# FILED

THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NOV 4 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Denuty Chark

DONNIE DEMONT PHILLIPS,

Appellant,

Apperranc,

Case No. 78,730

STATE OF FLORIDA,

v.

Appellee.

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

An Appeal from the District Court of Appeal, First District of Florida

JOHN C. HARRISON
JOHN C. HARRISON, P.A.
P.O. BOX 873
12 OLD FERRY RD.
SHALIMAR, FL 32579
(904)651-0354
FLORIDA BAR #187949

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT



##

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

DONNIE DEMONT PHILLIPS was the Defendant in the trial court and will be referred to in this brief as "Appellant", "Defendant", or by his proper name. Reference to the record on appeal will be by use of the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate volume and page number in parentheses.

#### STATEMENT OF TEE CASE AND THE FACTS

The Appellant was arrested on May 12, 1989 on an open count of murder, robbery and kidnapping. (R-V5-765). The public defender was appointed to represent the Appellant on the morning of May 13, (R-V5-768). However, the public defender never undertook 1989. the representation of Appellant because he had already been appointed to represent the co-defendant, Ricky Corbett. Bishop, an attorney with the public defender's office, so advised Appellant on the morning of May 13, 1989. He told Appellant he couldn't represent him so he couldn't help him. (R-V8-1169-1170). On May 15, 1989, the trial court entered an order granting the public defender's motion to withdraw. David Thomas was appointed to represent Appellant. (R-V5-769). An Indictment was returned on June 2, 1989 charging Appellant with first degree murder, kidnapping, robbery with a firearm and possession of a firearm during the commission of a felony. (R-V5-786).

After Indictment and prior to trial there were numerous motions filed and argued. Most are not relevant to this appeal. Some are relevant to the appeal. Specifically, Appellant filed a motion in limine to preclude as evidence at trial any photographs of the victim that would be prejudicial. (R-V6-973). Appellant filed a motion to suppress statements alleging that certain statements made by Appellant were obtained in violation of his privilege against self-incrimination and his right to counsel. (R-V6-975-978). The state filed a motion regarding certain statements

made by the co-defendant, Ricky Corbett. (R-V6-987). The public defender filed a motion to quash the trial subpoena served on the co-defendant. Ricky Corbett, which had been issued by Appellant's counsel. (R-V6-997). The court entered an order quashing said subpoena on November 2, 1989, (R-V6-999).

Prior to jury selection on November 27, 1989 the court heard the Appellant's motion to suppress statements. The motion was denied, (R-V8-1165-1172). After some discussion the court withheld ruling on Appellant's motion in limine regarding photographs of the victim until such time as that came up at trial. (R-V8-1172-1173). The court did not rule on the state's motion in limine regarding the co-defendant's statements until during the trial, The court ruled adversely to Appellant at the time witness Terry Poston testified. (R-V2-304-306).

On November 27, 1989 the case proceeded to voir dire and jury selection. Appellant's counsel objected to the prosecutor using three peremptory challenges on three black jurors. Appellant's counsel noted that his client was black and the victim was white. Appellant's counsel objected that there was not a reason to justify exclusion of the black prospective jurors from the jury and that there was a racial basis by the prosecutor in attempting to stack the jury with all whites, (R-V9-1451). The court denied Appellant's objection. (R-V9-1457). The result was an all white jury. (R-V9-1457).

The case proceeded to trial after opening statements and preliminary instructions.

Glenn Scott Hardy testified that he was a security guard at the Sandestin Beach Resort. He was working the front gate and had the visitor logs for May 5, 1989. He logged a brown Ford vehicle, tag number BBW 52F, at 7:13 A.M. on May 5, 1989. He identified Appellant as one of two black males in the vehicle. His log indicated they went to the personnel office at Sandestin at 8:39 A.M. (R-V1-36-44).

Grady Sutton testified that he **is** the housekeeper at Sandestin Beach Resort. He knows both Appellant and the co-defendant, Ricky Corbett. He saw the Appellant on the morning of May 5, 1989 sitting in a brown Ford vehicle in the parking lot of a restaurant on the Resort property. He did not see Ricky Corbett. He further testified that Corbett had previously worked at the restaurant as a dishwasher but had been fired. (R-V1-45-51).

Robert Cuspid **testified** that he drove by the King Bee **liquor** store on the morning of May 5, 1989 about 10:30 A.M. He saw a dark colored, relatively small car there but could not say how or where the vehicle was **parked** or if **it** was running. **He** saw no one. He came back by sometime after 11:00 A.M. and saw police cars there (R-V1-52-58).

Rick Sutton testified that he **is** an investigator and evidence custodian with the Walton County Sheriff's Department. He identified many of the State exhibits as follows: #1-cash register tape from King Bee liquor store, #2-latent fingerprints lifts from inside of store, #3-latent fingerprint lifts from within the vehicle, #4-inked fingerprints of Ricky Corbett, W5-inked

fingerprints of Appellant, #6-bullet projectile collected during autopsy of victim, #7-bullet projectile recovered at location where body was found, #8-standard of carpet taken from vehicle, #9-also carpet standards, #10-plastic jug recovered from area in Washington County filled with water and clothes when recovered, #21A through 21F - photos of scene where #10 was recovered, #11 - bag containing clothes that were in the jug (panties, bra, blouse and denim skirt), #11A and 11B-series of slides of fabric standards, #14-envelope containing dental records of the victim, #22-pair of tennis shoes from victim, #18A through 181-photos of scene at King Bee liquor store, #20A through 20E-photos of scene where body was located, #19A through 19D-photos of road(s) on route to where the body was located, #20F-photos of the body.

Officer Sutton also testified as to the location of the King Bee liquor store and the location of the scene where the body was found. Be drew a diagram of highway 20 and where Cow Ford road was in relation to highway 20 as well as the trail coming off of Cow Ford road, On cross examination he described the area where the car would have to stop and where the body was located in relation to that area. He described the type of terrain in the area of the body as wet, almost boggy. He further testified that if a person was in the area of the trail off Cow Ford road, he would not be able to see what was going on where the body was located because of the vegetation and the drop-off in the terrain. Officer Sutton also testified that a pair of shoes were also recovered in the same area where the plastic jug with clothes was recovered, (R-V1-60-

110).

During the testimony of Officer Sutton the State attempted to introduce photos of the body. Appellant's counsel objected to the inflammatory and gruesome nature of the photos without probative value. Over defense objection the court allowed the state to introduce one of the photos. (R-V1-82-86).

Betty Hardy testified that the victim, Sherry Lynn Dailey, was her daughter, On May 5, 1989 she took the victim to work at the King Bee liquor store at 8:00 A.M. She described what the victim was wearing and identified certain clothing from State's exhibit #11 as clothing that the victim was wearing that morning. She testified that Dr, John K. Moore was her daughter's dentist when they lived in Louisiana. Over defense objection she identified a photo of her daughter and same was introduced into evidence as State's exhibit #12 (R-y1-110-120).

Michelle Clark testified that the co-defendant, Ricky Corbett, is her half-brother. She also knows Appellant. She saw both on the morning of May 5, 1989 at her home north of Ebro. She identified the vehicle in photos (State's exhibits 13A and 13B) as the vehicle in which she saw them. She testified that Corbett was acting normal and that for him normal is crazy. (R-V1-121-125).

Freeport on highway 20 on the morning of May 5, 1989. She did not know the time, She testified that she met a vehicle traveling in the opposite direction which made a turn to the left in front of her. She had to stop her vehicle. The other vehicle whipped

east. She identified the vehicle she saw as the vehicle depicted in State's exhibits #13A and 13B. She further testified that there were two black males in the front seat of the vehicle and a girl in the back seat. She identified the photo (State's exhibit #12) as the girl she saw. (R-V1-125-135).

Henry McCormick testified that he went to the King Bee liquor store on the morning of May 5, 1989 at about 10:45 P.M. He could not find anyone. He called the Sheriff's office. Joe Campbell, Sr. was at the store when he arrived, There were no vehicles there, The cash register drawer was open and he observed a yellow lemon bottle sitting on the counter. He testified that a purse behind the counter was easily visible. (R-V1-135-146).

Judy Nobles testified that she is the manager/cashier of the King Bee liquor store. The victim worked on May 5, 1989 beginning at 8:00 A.M. She was called to the store at about 11:00 A.M. and determined that \$112.00 was missing from the cash register, She identified the victim's purse in photos and testified that it had money in it, There was other money kept in desk drawer in back room (over \$2,000.00). It was still there. She identified the cash register tape and testified regarding amounts of last purchases shown and price of certain items, i.e. cigarettes and lemon juice bottle. (R-V1-146-170).

Emil Avenaruis, a crime lab technician with the Florida Department of Law Enforcement testified for the purpose of identifying exhibits. (R-V1-171-182).

Tim Crenshaw testified that he is the Chief Correctional officer with the Walton County Sheriff's Department. He identified the fingerprint cards of both Appellant and Ricky Corbett. (R-V1-183-187).

Dr. Edmund Richard Kielman testified that he is an Assistant Medical Examiner for the First Judicial Circuit. Be 7as qualified as an expert in the area of forensic pathology. On May 11, 1989 he went to the location of the body. He described the scene and what he did there. The autopsy was done the next day. testified there were two gun shot wounds to the left hand. On the right hand the body was missing the ring finger. His opinion was that it was cut off with a knife. On the body in the abdomen area the skin was cut with a knife and a flap of skin was removed. there was one bullet wound in the skull with entry just over the This bullet was recovered, There was a fourth bullet through the roof of the mouth into the brain case. testified that the cause of death was brain death as a result of gun shot wounds. The only item of clothing on the body was a pair of tennis shoes. On cross examination Dr. Reilman testified that the body was lying in swampy land. He testified that the missing finger could have been removed days after her death, The victim's fingernails were intact and none were broken. There were detailed questions and answers describing rigor mortis. Also regarding Dr. Kielman's opinion as to the wound to the abdomen area. He admitted that he had changed his opinion since the deposition. deposition it was his opinion that the wound(s) were caused by

maggots and such. He admitted that the decomposition of the body made it extremely difficult to reach an opinion about those wounds and what caused them. He further testified that he would not be surprised for the assailant not to have any blood splatters or other evidence on him or his clothing. (R-V1-187-201) and (R-V2-220-197).

Dr. Kent Brown testified that he is a dentist. He went to the morgue and compared dental records to the body's lower jaw and the upper maxilla. He made a definite identification of Sherry Lynne Dailey (Sherry Lynne Hardy). (R-V2-213-217).

Dr. John Moore, Jr. testified that he is a dentist in Harvey, Louisiana. Be identified the dental records from his office as being those of Sherry Lynne Hardy. (R-V2-217-220).

Tony Christopher Phillips testified that he was the brother of Appellant and they lived in their mother's home. He also knew the co-defendant, Ricky Corbett. On May 5, 1989 and before then, there was a .38 special pistol in their home with five snub nosed bullets. It was kept in the bathroom. Prior to May 5th he last saw the gun on May 4th at the house. He next saw the gun on Saturday night in the bathroom on the shelf. He did not see any bullets. On Sunday he asked Appellant where the bullets were and was told that they should be in the bathroom on the shelf. (R-V2-298-303).

Terry Allen Poston testified that on May 8th Ricky Corbett took him to the scene and showed him the body of the victim. The court would not allow Appellant's counsel to inquire as to why

Corbett took him there. He testified that William Scholfied and Tommy Watson were with them, but stayed in the car. Corbett was driving and it was his idea to go out there. He testified that they had been drinking and smoking marijuana. He testified that he did not know Appellant and had never seen Appellant and Corbett together. When Corbett drove him to the body location Corbett was driving a brown Ford Tempo that belonged to Corbett's girlfriend, Corbett acted normal that day but he acted nervous after they left the body. He further testified that he told police about this three days later. He waited because he was scared and afraid of Corbett. If Corbett thought he was going to turn him in he might kill him. (R-V2-307-321).

Prior to Poston's testimony Appellant's counsel again argued that Corbett's statements to Poston were an exception to the hearsay rule and were crucial to his client's defense. Appellant's counsel argued that his whole case centered around the circumstances his client was faced with. He wanted the jury to understand about Corbett and exactly the type of person that was in the car holding the gun on his client. The court would not allow Appellant's counsel to question Poston about the statements Corbett made to him and granted the state's motion in limine in that regard. (R-V2-304-306). More than once in his testimony the court admonished Poston to not testify to what Corbett said,

Janice M, Johnson testified that she was employed with EDLE and certified in the area of crime scene analysis. She investigated the scene of the King Bee liquor store and identified

several exhibits from the scene. She further testified that she investigated the scene where the body was located and identified several exhibits from the scene. She also attended the autopsy and recovered several evidentiary items from the autopsy. (R-V2-321-358).

Laura Rousseau testified that she was employed with FDLE and that she analyzes crime scenes. She assisted in the investigation of the scene where the body was found and testified regarding several exhibits. She examined and processed the vehicle involved and removed the tires from same. The tires from this vehicle did not match tires that left impressions at the scene of the body. In processing the vehicle she was specifically looking for body fluids and blood. She found no evidence of those in the vehicle. (R-V2-358-376).

Charles Richards testified that he is a latent print examiner with FDLE. He processed the liquor store for latent prints. The palm print of Ricky Corbett was on the counter. Be was unable to match any other prints in the store. He also compared latent prints from the vehicle. He identified Appellant's prints on the rearview mirror and Ricky Corbett's palm print on the right outside of the truck lid. (R-V2-377-389).

David Williams testified that he is a firearms expert with FDLE. He identified the bullet from the victim's head as the base portion of a .38 or .357 caliber bullet. He identified the bullet recovered from the scene where the body was located as a wad cutter type bullet of the .38 or .357 caliber classification. His opinion

was that these two bullets were of the same type. He further testified as to what brand of pistol these bullets could have been fired from, He testified that a .38 caliber Smith and Wesson pistol could have fired the bullets only  $i\,f$  that revolver had been rebarreled with a different barrel. (R-V2-390-400) and (R-V3-401-403).

Paula **Sauer** testified that she was employed by FDLE in their fiber analyst section, She compared standards of carpet from the vehicle with the clothing of the victim. She found two fibers from the clothing that were consistent with the carpet from the vehicle. (R-V3-403-421).

Larry Smith testified that he is employed as a micro-analyst with FDLE. He testified that a hair found on the victim's chest was characteristic of a negroid body hair, but not head or pubic hair. He testified similarity to one hair in debris from the victim's shoes and five hairs in debris from the victim's clothing, None of the hairs were suitable far comparison purposes to any individual. He also found other hairs on the victim's chest that were of Caucasian origin, (R-V3-421-433).

Fred Mann testified that he is an investigator with the Walton County Sheriff's Department. He was the first officer on the scene at the liquor store, He described what he found upon arrival, Subsequently, Terry Poston took him and showed him the victim's body, He picked up Ricky Corbett and talked to him. After talking to Corbett, he picked up Appellant. He first talked to Appellant on the evening of May 11, 1989. He next talked to him the next

morning. In the first interview Appellant told him that on May 5, 1989 he had gone to Sampson, Alabama and then came back to DeFuniak Springs. Then left to go to Tallahassee a little after noon. This statement was not recorded, After the statement, Appellant was allowed to go home.

Officer Mann testified that the next statement on May 12, 1989 was recorded. Appellant continued to deny any knowledge of the robbery and denied being with Ricky Corbett that day. He denied knowing anything about a gun. Other officers talked to Appellant after Mann did. Mann did not talk to Appellant further on May 12, It should be noted that Appellant was arrested on May 12th and an attorney was appointed to represent Appellant on the morning of May 13th.

had been with Corbett on Friday, May 5th. On May 13th at approximately 7:00 P.M. officer Mann interviewed Appellant again, Mann testified that Appellant admitted he had been with Corbett on May 5th but he denied going into the King Bee liquor store on that date. Mann testified that Appellant told him that he and Corbett had been to Sandestin and on their way back Corbett wanted to stop and get cigarettes. Mann testified that appellant stayed in the car while Corbett went in and a few minutes later Corbett came out of the store along with the clerk. Mann testified that Appellant said when they got in the car Corbett pulled a gun from beneath the front seat. Mann testified that Appellant told him that was the first he had seen or knew of a gun. Mann testified that Appellant

said the gun was not carried into the store. Mann testified that Appellant said they left the store and headed south down highway 331 taking the first dirt road to the left. That road led back out to highway 20 and they went east towards Bruce. Mann testified that Appellant told him that they eventually got to an area where it looked like they'd been doing some pulp wooding. Mann testified that Appellant told him that Corbett turned the switch key off and pulled the keys out and left him sitting in the car and then Corbett took the clerk and walked about fifty yards from the car into the bushes. Mann testified that Appellant then said he heard a scream and four shots and that Corbett came running back with clothes in his hand. Mann testified that Appellant continued to deny anything about the robbery.

Shortly after ending that interview Mann testified that he interviewed Appellant again. In this interview Mann said that Appellant admitted his participation in the robbery and said that he and Corbett had planned to rob the store. Mann testified that Appellant admitted that the gun was in his house approximately one month prior to this and that he had taken the paper sack containing the gun and the bullets. Mann testified that Appellant said that Corbett put the gun in his clothing and that the plan was to put the clerk in the back room. He testified that Appellant related that he parked the vehicle so that it would be pointing toward the highway and he left the engine running. Mann testified that Appellant described the actions in the store. Corbett pulled the gun. The clerk saw the gun and said take the money. She reached

in the cash drawer and put the money on the counter. Appellant took the money and put it down the front of his pants and left the store. Mann testified that Appellant said he got in the car and a few seconds later Corbett came out with the clerk. The clerk got in the backseat, Appellant was driving and Corbett got in the front passenger's seat. Mann testified that the remainder of Appellant's story was consistent with his previous statement,

At this point in officer Mann's testimony the taped statement of the Appellant was played to the jury and they were allowed to have transcripts of said statement, (R-V7-1036-1107).

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