IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME/COURT By______ Chief/Deputy Clerk

DONNIE DEMONT PHILLIPS,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO.: 78,730

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SUZANNE G. PRINTY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #308633

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in allowing the State to use its peremptory challenges to strike three black prospective jurors. **Once** the objection was made, the State presented sufficient race-neutral reasons to justify the challenges. Recognizing those reasons as sufficient and supported by the record, the court did not err in allowing the State's challenges to stand.

The trial court did nat err in admitting Phillips's out of court statement to law enforcement, even though Phillips did not have counsel present while the statement was made. Even though Phillips had been appointed counsel at his first appearance, neither his Sixth Amendment right to counsel nor his right to counsel under Article 1, section 16 of the constitution of the State of Florida had attached at first appearance or at the time the statement in question was made. As Phillips had no right to the presence of counsel through either the or Sixth Amendment or through Article I, section 16, and as Phillips's right to due process was not violated, admission of his voluntary statement was not error.

The trial court also did not err in granting the State's motion in limine thereby ruling inadmissible Poston's proposed testimony that Corbett confessed the robbery and murder to him. The statement was hearsay, and did not qualify **as** an exception **as** it was not corroborated as trustworthy by surrounding

- 7 -

circumstances. In addition, the statement was irrelevant as applied to Phillips, and was properly ruled inadmissible on that ground as well.

Finally, the trial court did not err in denying Phillips's motion in limine thereby allowing the admission of a single photograph of the body. Photographs, even gruesome photographs, are admissible if relevant. Here, the photograph was relevant to show the victim's **lack** of clothing, **the** location of the body, and nonfatal injuries inflicted to the victim.

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT UPHOLDING DEFENSE COUNSEL'S OBJECTION TO THE STATE'S PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE TO THREE PROSPECTIVE JURORS.

The State agrees that the defense counsel met the first requirement of **State** v. **Neil**, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984), and State v. Slappy, 527 **So.2d** 18 (Fla. **1988**). However, the second prong of **Neil** and Slappy, failure on the part of the State to show that the "questioned challenges were not exercised solely upon the basis of race," **Neil**, **p. 488**, was clearly not met.

In his examination of the State's rationale for the challenges exercised, Phillips claims only that the challenge was based on reasons equally applicable to a juror who was not challenged. The reasons given for the peremptory challenge for prospective juror Tillery, that she had previously been convicted of petit theft, and that she knew the defendant, were racially neutral. Stephens V. State, 15 F.L.W. 897 (Fla. 1st DCA **1990).** Phillips claims that those reasons were equally applicable to juror Amason. However, Phillips incorrectly bases his claim on the statement that Amason had been convicted of the crime of trespassing. The record clearly shows that Amason was not convicted, but was merely charged with trespassing and that charges were, in fact, dropped. Unlike petit theft, the trespassing is not related to the robbery offense with which Phillips was charged. The record also shows that Amason was a

corrections officer at Okaloosa Correctional Institute, that he was the brother-in-law of the manager of the **store** which Phillips was accused of robbing, and that, unlike Tillery, he did not know Phillips. Clearly, it cannot be said that the reasons given to challenge Tillery, conviction of theft, one of the offenses with which Phillips was charged, was equally applicable to Amason. The reasons given for striking Tillery were clearly not applicable to Juror Amason.

Similarly, Phillips claims that the reason to challenge Cora Wilson, the fact that Phillips's prosecutor himself had successfully prosecuted Wilson's son two or three times, was equally applicable to Juror McInnis. Although McInnis did have a brother who had been jailed for "bad checks,''the brother had not been prosecuted by the very attorney arguing for the State **as** had Wilson's son. Had the same assistant state attorney not prosecuted Wilson's son, the argument before this Court may have been closer. However, as Wilson's son was prosecuted by the very attorney for the State in the case for which Wilson was being examined for jury duty, a fact which she acknowledged, **and** as the child which had been **prosecuted** was of the approximate age of Phillips and lived in DeFuniak Springs, clearly, again, the reasons given to challenge Ms. Wilson were racially neutral and were not equally applicable to Juror McInnis.

The State's basis for exercising a peremptory challenge to prospective Juror Linda Paul was likewise not racially based.

Ms. Paul indicated on vois dire that she could not vote to impose the death penalty unless the State could **prove** that the defendant was personally responsible for the death of the victim, that Phillips "pulled the trigger." In this case, Phillips had been charged with felony murder and **the** State would not **prove** that he had "pulled the trigger," yet the State was seeking the **death** penalty. "Ambivalence toward recommending a sentence of death and opposition to **the** death penalty are race neutral and acceptable grounds for excusing a prospective juror.'' Holton v. State, 16 F.L.W. S136, 137 (Fla. January 15, 1991). Ms. Paul had also stated on voir dire **p.** 63 that she knew Phillips and his daughter. These two reasons were racially neutral, and were properly found to be so by **the trial** court. Lennon v. State, 560 So.2d 308 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) and Holton, supra.

Phillips's claim that the trial court did not make a complete evaluation of the credibility of the State's rationale for exercising its challenges is also in error. After the trial court questioned whether he could leave a challenged prospective juror on the panel, defense counsel argued and fully explained the court's duty in this regard, The court then made a determination based on the record, finding that the State had a factual basis for the challenges in the record, thereby denying Phillips's objection.

- 11 -

The trial court is granted broad discretion in determining whether peremptory challenges are racially based. Reed v. State, 560 So.2d 203 (Fla. 1990). As no abuse of that discretion has been shown in this case, this Court should affirm the trial court's ruling on Phillips's objection here.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE 11

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS AND ALLOWING THE ADMISSION OF THOSE STATEMENTS AT TRIAL.

Phillips claims that the admission of his voluntary statement at trial was a violation of his 6th amendment right to counsel as well as the right to counsel guaranteed by Article I, § 16 of the Constitution of the State of Florida.

The sixth amendment to the U.S. Constitution states, in pertinent part:

In all <u>criminal prosecutions</u>, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial. . . and to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, <u>and to have the</u> <u>assistance of counsel for his defence</u>. Constitution of the United States, Article [V1] (E.S.).

Although the language quoted above does not specifically say when the right "to have the assistance of counsel" attaches, the United States Supreme Court has said repeatedly that

> such time as until the government has committed itself to prosecute, and . . . the positions of government adverse and defendant solidified have the Sixth Amendment right to counsel does not attach. Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412, 432, 89 L.Ed.2d 410, 428, 106 S.Ct. 1135 (1986), quoting United States v. Gouveia, 467 U.S.

180, 189, 81 L.Ed.2d 146, 104 S.Ct. 2294 (1984) and Kirby v. Illinois, 406 U.S. 682, 689, 32 L.Ed.2d 411, 92 S.Ct. 1877 (1972).

In this case, the statement at issue was made after Phillips had been arrested, and **after** he had made his first appearance in court. At first appearance, he had been appointed counsel, pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.130(c)(1). Phillips himself concedes that appointment of counsel at first appearance probably does not constitute the attachment of the right to counsel afforded by the Sixth Amendment. Phillips is correct in this concession.

As previously stated, the sixth amendment right to counsel attaches at the "initiation of adversarial judicial proceedings." Michigan v. Jackson, 475 U.S. 625, 629, 89 L.Ed.2d 631, 638, 106 S.Ct. 1404 (1986), quoting United States v. Gouveia, 467 U.S. 180, 187, 188, 81 L.Ed.2d 146, 104 S.Ct. 2292 (1984). As also stated by the United States Supreme Court,

> [A] person is entitled to the help of a lawyer at or after the time that judicial proceedings have initiated against him -whether by way of formal charge, preliminary hearing, indictment, information, or arraignment. Brewer v. Williams, 430 U.S. 387, 398, 61 L.Ed.2d 424, 97 S.Ct. 1232 (1977) quoting Kirby v. Illinois, 406 U.S. 682, 689, 32 L.Ed.2d 411, 417, 92 S.Ct. 1877 (1972).

The facts in the case before this Court raises the question of whether first appearance constitutes an adversarial judicial proceeding in which the government has committed itself to prosecute.

The time at which adversary judicial proceedings commence is a question of state law. **Moore** v. Illinois, **434 U.S. 220**, 228 (1977). Article 1, Section 15(a) of the Florida Constitution provides:

> No person shall **be** tried for capital crime without presentment or indictment by a grand jury, or for other felony without such presentment or indictment or an information under oath filed by the prosecuting officer of the court . . . (E.S.)

This Court has held that adversary proceedings do not commence until formal charges have been filed. Keen v. State, 504 So.2d 396 (Fla. 1987). This court has also held that a person has no right to counsel at a pre-indictment line up. Perkins v. State, 228 So.2d 382 (Fla. 1969); Chaney v. State, 267 So.2d 65 (Fla. 1972); Ashford v. State, 274 So.2d 517 (Fla. 1974); and Lynch v. State, 293 So.2d 44 (Fla. 1974).

Here, Phillips claims that **his** right to counsel "attached" when counsel was appointed at first **appearance**. First appearance is held pursuant to Rule **3.130**, Fla.R.Crim.P., and is to be held within 24 hours of arrest. At first appearance the individual has been arrested but not formally charged by indictment or information under oath by the prosecuting attorney. The purpose of the first appearance is to have a

- 15 -

magistrate inform the arrested person of the offenses for which he was arrested, of his right to remain silent, his right to counsel, and of his right to communicate with counsel, family or At first appearance, the magistrate is also to set friends. bond or other conditions of release. Further, if the necessary proof is available, and the person was not arrested pursuant to the issuance of a warrant, companion rule 3.133(a)(1) also requires the magistrate to determine probable cause to detain If the proof necessary to determine the arrested person. probable cause is not available, no warrant was issued for his arrest, and the arrested person is not released at first appearance, rule 3.133(a)(1) requires a non-adversary probable cause determination to be held before a magistrate within 72 hours from the date of arrest.

Before its amendment in 1975, In re Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, 309 So.2d 544 (Fla. 1975), Florida's process in which criminal charges were brought was challenged in a series of Federal cases culminating in Gerstein v. Pugh, 420 U.S. 103, 43 L.Ed.2d 54, 95 S.Ct. 854 (1975). Those preamendment rules, in all but capital cases, allowed a person to be charged through a prosecutor's information without a determination of probable cause. In examining Florida's standards and procedures for arrest and detention, the Gerstein v. Pugh Court stated that the standards and procedures for arrest and detention have been derived from the Fourth Amendment

- 16 -

and its common law antecedents to protect the rights of a **person** not to be unreasonably seized without probable cause.

The Gerstein v. Pugh Court further held that the adversary safeguards of "'counsel, confrontation, cross examination, and compulsory process/or witnesses' . , , are not essential for the probable cause determination required by the Fourth Amendment." Gerstein v. Pugh, 43 L.Ed.2d at 68 & 69. The Court stated further:

> The sole issue is whether there is probable cause for detaining the arrested person pending further proceedings. This issue can be determined reliably without an adversary hearing. Id.

Accordingly, the Court ruled that

[8]ecause of its limited function and its nonadversary character, the probable **cause** determination is not a "critical stage" in the prosecution that would require appointed counsel. <u>Id</u>. 43 L.Ed, p. 70.

In reaching this conclusion, the court identified "critical stages" as

those pretrial procedures that would impair defense on the merits if the accused is required to proceed without counsel.

Like the probable cause determination, the other two procedures performed at first appearance, determining pretrial release and informing the arrested person of his rights to silence, to counsel, and to communicate with counsel, friends and family, **are** not ones that would "impair defense on the merits" if no counsel were provided. Accordingly, those procedures are likewise not adversarial or "critical stages" as defined by Gerstein v. Pugh, and would likewise not require counsel to be appointed pursuant to the Sixth Amendment.

Another reason that the first appearance is not a "critical stage" of prosecution is that not all persons arrested are required to appear at first appearance. Only those "who [were not] previously released in a lawful manner" at **the** time of first appearance are required to appear. Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.130(a). Moreover, not all arrested persons in custody are entitled to a post-arrest probable cause determination at first appearance or within **72** hours of arrest. As stated in Rule 3.133(a)(1), "this [nonadversary probable **cause** determination] shall not be required when a probable cause determination has been previously made by a magistrate and an arrest warrant issued for the specific offense for which the defendant is charged."

Further, even if he is in custody and arrested without a warrant Florida rule of Criminal Procedure 3.133(a)(3) specifically states that the arrested person need not be present at the probable cause determination. A proceeding which is not required for every arrested person and which can be held outside the presence of the arrested person cannot be considered a

- 18 -

critical stage at which the arrested person's "right to be heard by counsel" attaches.

Although Phillips was appointed counsel at first appearance, that appointment was to protect **his** rights not to be seized without probable cause and to reasonable bail. That appointment was not the Sixth Amendment appointment to assist the accused in adversary judicial proceedings. At the time of the appointment, no charges had been made by information or indictment. The state had not "committed itself to prosecute" and the adversary positions had not solidified. He had not been formally charged and was therefore not an "accused." Moreover, the proceedings, demonstrated, did not constitute ''adversary judicial as proceeding." They were not a "critical stage" in the prosecution require representation by appointed counsel. and did not Accordingly, Phillips had no Sixth Amendment right to counsel at the time of first appearance. As that right to counsel had not "attached," the inculpatory statement he made subsequent to first appearance was admissable even though that statement was made outside of the presence of counsel. Keen v. State, supra; and Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412, 89 L.Ed.2d 410, 106 S.Ct. 1135 (1986).

Phillips also claims that his right to counsel guaranteed by Article I, Section 16 of the Florida Constitution was also violated in the admission of the inculpatory statement. Relying on State v. Douse, 448 So.2d 1184 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984) and Sobczak

- 19 -

v. State, 462 So.2d 1172 (Fla. 4th DCA, 1984), Phillips claims that Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.130 pravides that the right to the assistance of counsel "attaches" as early as the defendant's first appearance.

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